
Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to City Hall at 503-374-1752. 
 
9/14/2023 6:21 PM 

City of Rockaway Beach 
Planning Commission Meeting Agenda       
 
Date:   Thursday, September 21, 2023  
Time:   4:30 P.M. 
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 HWY 101 - Civic Facility  
 
Watch live stream here:  https://corb.us/live-stream 
View meeting later here: https://corb.us/planning-commission/ 
 
Join here to attend remotely:  
Planning Commission Meeting 
Meeting ID: 889 4352 2752 
Passcode: 347487 
Dial by your location 
253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER – Bill Hassell, Planning Commission President 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
President: Bill Hassell 
Commissioners: Pat Olson, Zandra Umholtz, Sandra Johnson, Georgeanne Zedrick, Stephanie 
Winchester, and Nancy Lanyon 
City Councilors:  Charles McNeilly, Mayor; Mary McGinnis, Planning Commission Liaison 

 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a. August 17, 2023 Meeting Minutes 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS, GUESTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

6. STAFF REPORTS  
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING 
 

a. Variance #23-03: Consideration of an Application for Variance at 262 Dolphin Street to 
Reduce Front Yard Setback 
 

b. Variance #23-04: Consideration of an Application for Variance at 271 N Palisade Street to 
Reduce Rear Yard Setback 
 

c. Conditional Use #23-01: Consideration of an Application for Conditional Use Approval for 
Construction of a New Single Family Dwelling Unit on Unimproved Real Property on North Beacon 
Street, Map # 2N1032CB Lot 2301  
 
 

8. CITIZEN INPUT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
 

https://corb.us/live-stream
https://corb.us/planning-commission/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88943522752?pwd=MnJldWVEOC9UeTRUTTl1SG8rOGNWZz09


Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to City Hall at 503-374-1752. 
 
9/14/2023 6:21 PM 

9. OLD BUSINESS 
a. Review and Discuss Anchor Street Playground Proposals and Public Comments 

 
10. NEW BUSINESS 

a. Discuss and Determine Planning Commission Meeting Start Time 
 

11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS & CONCERNS 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 



 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 1 of 5 
Minutes – August 17, 2023 

City of Rockaway Beach 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes      
 
Date:   Thursday, August 17, 2023  
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 HWY 101 - Civic Facility  

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Planning Commission President Hassell called the meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. ROLL CALL 

Start time: 04:31:04 PM (00:01:10) 
 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Present 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Present 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Present 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Present 
Position #1 - Zandra Umholtz: Excused 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Present 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Present 
 
Councilors Present: Charles McNeilly, Mayor; and Mary McGinnis, Planning Commission Liaison. 
 
Staff Present: Mary Johnson, City Planner; Scott Fregonese, City Planner; and Melissa Thompson, 

City Recorder 
 
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Start time: 04:31:37 PM (00:01:44) 
 
Zedrick made a motion, seconded by Winchester, to approve the July 20, 2023 minutes as presented.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Motion 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 
 
 

  

avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:10
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:29
avca:fee8ce9a-bf0c-445e-b4b5-a9c5cbd632b2@00:02:00
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:01:44
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:11
avca:fee8ce9a-bf0c-445e-b4b5-a9c5cbd632b2@00:04:20
avca:fee8ce9a-bf0c-445e-b4b5-a9c5cbd632b2@00:04:20


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 2 of 5 
Minutes – August 17, 2023 

5. PRESENTATIONS, GUESTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS – None Scheduled 
 

6. STAFF REPORTS – None Scheduled 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING 
Start time: 04:38:15 PM (00:08:21) 
 
a.  Variance #23-02: Consideration of an Application for Variance at 280 S. Easy Street to 
     Increase the Maximum Allowable Size of an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) 
 

Hassell opened the public hearing at 4:38 p.m. 
 
McNeilly and McGinnis recused themselves from the meeting at 4:38 p.m. 
 
Hassell explained that criteria for the requested action were listed in the Staff Report. He shared 
the procedure and testifying instructions for the public hearing. 
 
There were no challenges to the Planning Commission jurisdiction to hear the application, and no 
Planning Commission declarations of bias or conflicts of interest. Commissioners Zedrick, 
Lanyon and Johnson commented that they made site visits to the property. Zedrick commented 
that the building on the property currently appeared slightly different from the image presented in 
the staff report. Lanyon concurred. 
 
Fregonese presented the staff report. Fregonese noted that written testimony was received from 
two parties regarding the application. City Planner Johnson said that she provided responses to 
both inquiries. The Commission reviewed the written testimony. 
 
Applicants Michael and Dora Norman explained that they intended to use the ADU as their 
primary dwelling for as long as physically possible. They commented that without the variance 
they would have to reduce the size of the existing building to meet requirements. The applicants 
also shared information on dwelling size regulations in other jurisdictions.  
 
Commissioner Johnson commented that decisions must be based on the City’s regulations and 
variance criteria. The applicants confirmed for Johnson that they would not be modifying the 
current height of the structure. 
 
City Planner Johnson confirmed for Lanyon that parking was adequate, and that any 
modifications to convert the existing structure into a dwelling would require a building permit, 
would need to meet residential building code, and would be inspected by the County.  
 
In response to an inquiry from Zedrick, the applicant explained changes that were made to the 
structure that differed from the image presented in the staff report. Fregonese explained types of 
uses that would be permitted on the structure’s lower level.  
 
There was brief discussion regarding street rights-of-way and an adjacent lot, and it was noted 
that they were unlikely to be developed. City Planner Johnson confirmed for a member of the 
audience that the ADU would require an additional water connection. Planners Fregonese and 
Johnson answered Commissioner questions regarding short-term rental permits.  
 

avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:08:21


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 3 of 5 
Minutes – August 17, 2023 

Daniel Howlett (132 N. Grayling) testified in support of the application. He commented that the 
applicants should not have to pay for the variance, and rules should be adapted to make middle 
housing more affordable. 
 
There was no public testimony against the application. The applicants made no rebuttal. 
 
Winchester commented that she fully supported that application because of the need for middle 
housing. She expressed a desire to review strategies and plans to ensure that development costs 
make housing feasible for residents. 
 
The applicants waived their right to submit additional written comments.  
 
Olson made a motion, seconded by Johnson, to close the public hearing at 5:04 pm. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Motion 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 
There was no further discussion. 
 
Zedrick made a motion, seconded by Winchester, that, based on the findings of fact and 
recommendation presented in the City Staff Report and testimony received, the Planning 
Commission approve Variance Application Number 23-02. 
 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Motion 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 

 
8. CITIZEN INPUT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

Start time: 04:32:45 PM (00:02:51) 
 
Daniel Howlett, (132 N. Grayling) commented on the water supply, fire preparedness, and proposed 
changes to water billing based on usage and including incentives for conservation. 
 
 

9. OLD BUSINESS  

avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:35:13
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:36:25
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:02:51


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 4 of 5 
Minutes – August 17, 2023 

 
a. Review and Discuss Anchor Street Playground Proposals 

Start time: 05:07:06 PM (00:37:12) 
 
McNeilly and McGinnis rejoined the meeting at 5:07 p.m. 
 
City Planner Johnson gave a presentation on playground equipment options for the Anchor Street 
project. She answered clarifying questions for the Commission. There was discussion regarding 
the three proposed options.  

 
There was public comment suggesting consideration of ideas besides play structures through a 
public process such as an online survey, and a recommendation to reduce the parking lot to allow 
for a pickleball court. There were staff and Commission comments advising against modifying 
engineered parking plans and opposed to reducing parking.  
 
There was further discussion regarding playground features, safety and ADA considerations, 
warranties, maintenance, and a desire for further community engagement, Public Works’ input, 
and further discussion. It was suggested that a playground manufacturer’s representative attend a 

meeting.  
 
There was public comment regarding adjacent land. Winchester noted that there was discussion 
regarding adjacent land at the July meeting and suggested referring to the minutes and meeting 
materials. Staff explained how to access online GIS and Land Use Maps on the city’s website. 

There was brief discussion regarding wetlands on the adjacent land and suggestion to evaluate the 
land. City Planner Johnson commented that she had asked the Fire Department to assist in 
reviewing the land by drone. 

 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS – None Scheduled 
 
 

11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS & CONCERNS 
Start time: 05:46:18 PM (01:16:25) 
 
Zedrick expressed thanks for the playground proposals.  
 
Olson commented that everything sounded good. 
 
Winchester commented regarding the start time of the meeting and a desire to make a decision on the 
matter. 
 
Johnson expressed concern that there was discussion regarding the Anchor Street proposals, but no 
decision was made. 
 
Lanyon concurred with Winchester’s and Johnson’s comments. She noted that a 6:00 p.m. meeting 
start time would work for her. 
 

avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@00:37:12
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:16:25


 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission   Page 5 of 5 
Minutes – August 17, 2023 

Hassell commended City Planner Johnson for providing the Planning Commission reference binder 
materials in an electronic format. Johnson explained that website revisions were in progress, and the 
materials would be added to the website as soon as possible. 
 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 

Start time: 05:49:03 PM (01:19:10) 
 
Olson made a motion, seconded by Johnson, to adjourn the meeting at 5:49 p.m.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Motion 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: 2nd 
Position #2 - Stephanie Winchester: Approve 
Position #3 - Pat Olson: Approve 
Position #7 - Georgeanne Zedrick: Approve 
Position #5 - Bill Hassell: Approve 
Position #4 - Sandra Johnson: Approve 
Position #6 - Nancy Lanyon: Approve 
 
 

 
 

MINUTES APPROVED THIS 
21ST DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2023 

 
         
                 ______________________________ 
         William Hassell, President  
ATTEST  
 
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 

avca:fee8ce9a-bf0c-445e-b4b5-a9c5cbd632b2@00:59:15
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:10
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30
avca:98608d05-9aea-4e82-b039-78c3ea1a9d37@01:19:30


















 
 

VAR #23-03  Page 1 of 7 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 
 
STAFF REPORT Case File #VAR-23-03 

Date Filed: August 21, 2023 
Hearing Date: September 21, 2023 

 
APPLICANTS: Nicholas Theoharis and Jacklyn Theoharis 
 
REQUEST: The applicants are requesting a variance for a reduction in the front yard setback to construct an 
addition to the front of the home for an entry/mud room.  The property is located in the R2 zone which has a 15-
foot front yard setback.  The applicants are requesting the front yard setback be reduced 3-feet, for a 12-foot front 
yard setback. 
 

A. REPORT OF FACTS 
1. Property Location:  The property is located at 262 S Dolphin Street in Rockaway Beach and is further 

identified on Tillamook County Assessor’s Map # 2N1032CD Lot #11900.   
2. Lot Size: approximately 5,249 square feet 
3. Zoning Designation: R2 (Residential Zoning). 
4. Surrounding Land Use: The subject property is surrounded by existing single-family dwellings on all 

sides.   
5. Existing Structures: There is a one-story home on this property that was constructed in 1978, which the 

applicants would like to construct an addition to and is the subject of this variance application, and a 
second, multi-purpose shed.  There is also an attached carport that was constructed in 1983. 

6. Utilities: The following utilities serve the subject property: 
a. Sewer: City of Rockaway Beach 
b. Water: City of Rockaway Beach 
c. Electricity: Tillamook P.U.D. 

7. Development Constraints:  None that will impact this request. 
 

B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST 
1. General Description of the Proposal: The applicant is requesting a variance for a reduction in the front 

yard setback to construct an addition to the front of the home for an entry/mud room.  This property is 
in the R2 zone, which has a 15-foot front yard setback.  The applicants seek to reduce the front yard 
setback 3-feet, for a 12-foot front yard setback. 

2. Background: The subject property currently has a one-story home that is approximately 1,056 square-
feet and a second multi-purpose shed that is approximately 80 square-feet.  In 1983, the then-property 
owners applied for and were granted a variance to build a carport (which is attached to the home) with 
a 2-foot setback.  This property is owner-occupied.   

3. Agency Comments: None. 
4. Ordinance Standards: The following ordinance standards apply to this request: 

 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-03  Page 2 of 7 
Staff Report 

Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance 
 
Article 3. Use Zones. 
 
Section 3.020. Residential Zone (R-2). In an R-2 zone the following regulations shall apply: 
 

1. Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-2 zone the following uses are permitted outright: 
a. Single family dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes and duplexes. 

Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 
b. Home occupations (see Section 4.090). 
c. Manufactured dwelling or recreation vehicle or temporary structure used during the construction 

of a permitted use for which a building permit has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months 
duration. 

d. Signs subject to Section 4.050. 
e. Family day care center. 
f. Residential home. 
g. Structural shoreline stabilization. 

2. Conditional Uses Permitted. In an R-2 zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are 
permitted, subject to the provisions of Article 6. 

a. Multi-family dwellings. 
b. Public or private school. 
c. Church and community meeting buildings. 
d. Parks and publicly owned recreation areas. 
e. Governmental or municipal structures. 
f. Golf course, tennis courts, swimming pools and other private recreation areas. 
g. Public utility structure such as a substation. 
h. Hospital, sanitarium, rest home and nursing home. 
i. Nursery. 
j. Bed and breakfast. 
k. Day care center. 
l. Residential facility. 
m. Public or private school 

3. Standards and Criteria. In an R-2 zone the following standards and criteria shall apply: 
a. The minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots existing at the time of the adoption of 

Ordinance 235, lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum size of 
5,000 square feet. 

b. The density of duplexes shall be: for lots existing prior to the adoption of Ordinance 235, a 
duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 3,500 square feet; for lots platted after the 
adoption of Ordinance 235, a duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 5,000 square 
feet.  The density of multifamily dwellings shall be 1,750 square feet of lot area per unit. The 
minimum lot size of a multifamily dwelling shall be 5,250 square feet. 

c. Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 
lot width shall be 35 feet. 

d. Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 
lot depth shall be 60 feet. 



 
 

VAR #23-03  Page 3 of 7 
Staff Report 

e. The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet for lots of more than 3,500 square feet. For lots of 3,500 
square feet or less, the minimum front yard shall be 10 feet. Notwithstanding the above, 
oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 

f. The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 
feet. 

g. The minimum rear yard shall be five feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall 
conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 

h. The maximum building height shall be 24 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet 
i. Multifamily structures shall be allowed by conditional use permit where it is determined that the 

structure would meet the following criteria: 
i. It is located on a street adequate to handle traffic loads; and 

ii. Adequate space is provided for parking maneuvering; and 
iii. At least 30% of the lot is maintained in natural vegetation, open space, or is landscaped. 

j. The requirements of Section 4.041 Shorelands Development Criteria shall be met where uses are 
to be located within 50 feet of a lake within the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary. 

k. A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping. 
 
Article 8. Variances. 
 
Section 8.010. Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of a variance is to provide relief when a strict application of the zoning requirements would 
impose unusual practical difficulties or unnecessary physical hardships on the applicant. Practical 
difficulties and unnecessary hardships may result from the size, shape, or dimensions of a site, or the 
location of existing structures thereon; from geographic, topographic or other physical conditions on the 
site or in the immediate vicinity or from population densities, street location, or traffic conditions in the 
immediate vicinity. 

2. The power to grant variances does not extend to use regulations. In other words, no variance shall be granted 
to allow the use of property for a purpose not authorized within the zone in which the proposed use would 
be located. 

 
Section 8.020. Criteria 

1. Variances to a requirement of this chapter with respect to lot area and dimensions, setbacks, yard area, lot 
coverage, height of structures, vision clearance, fences and walls, and other quantitative requirements may 
be granted only if, on the basis of the application, investigation, and evidence submitted by the applicant, 
that all four expressly written findings are made: 

a. That a strict or literal interpretation and enforcement of the specified requirement would result in 
practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship and would be inconsistent with the objectives of the 
Comprehensive Plan; and 

b. That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applicable to the property 
involved or to the intended use of the property which do not apply generally to other properties in 
the same zone; and 

c. That the granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or 
materially injurious to properties or improvements in the near vicinity; and 

d. That the granting of the variance would support policies contained within the Comprehensive Plan. 



 
 

VAR #23-03  Page 4 of 7 
Staff Report 

Variances in accordance with this subsection should not ordinarily be granted if the special circumstances 
upon which the applicant relies are a result of the actions of the applicant or owner. 

 
C. STAFF SUMMARY 

 
The applicant has addressed the criteria for a variance (see application). 

 
D. CONCLUSION 

 
If, after hearing the evidence at the hearing, the planning commission agrees that sufficient facts exist to grant 
the variance, they should direct staff to write findings based on the evidence to permit the variance. If they do 
not find that sufficient evidence exists to allow the variance, they should direct staff to write findings for denial 
of the variance.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-03  Page 5 of 7 
Staff Report 

APPLICATION LOCATION: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-03  Page 6 of 7 
Staff Report 

 
SITE PLAN: 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-03  Page 7 of 7 
Staff Report 

 
PROPERTY IMAGES: 

 

 

 



 City of Rockaway Beach, Oregon 
     276 S. Highway 101, PO Box 5 

     Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 

(503) 374-1752    FAX (503) 374-0601

www.corb.us  •  cityplanner@corb.us

   VARIANCE APPLICATION     (# __ - ____) 
Non-Refundable Fee $880.00 

Property Owner(s) Name: ________________________________________________________________________

Full Mailing Address: ____________________________________________________________________________ 

Email:  ____________________________________________ Phone Number:  _____________________________

Location Information: 

Situs Address:  ________________________________ AND/OR    Map/Tax Lot:  ___________________________ 

Zoning: ______________________ 

Description of Request:   ___________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Justification of variance request. Explain how the request meets each of the following criteria for granting a 

variance per Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance# 143, as amended, Article 8, Variances, Section 8.020, Criteria 

1. That a strict or literal interpretation and enforcement of the specified requirement would result in

practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship and would be consistent with the objectives of the Comprehensive Plan.

__________________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applicable to the property involved or to
the intended use of the property which do not apply generally to other properties in the same zone.

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

3. That the granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare or materially
injurious to properties or improvements in the near vicinity.

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Geoff and Debra Grace

PO Box , Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

271 N. Palisade St., Rockaway Beach 2N1032DB01702-5602

RK-R-3

See Attached

See Attached

See Attached

See Attached

23  04



__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

4.  That the granting of the variance would support policies contained within the Comprehensive Plan. 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Note: Use extra sheets or documents, if necessary, for answering the above questions.  

Attach a scale drawing showing the dimensions of the property, adjacent street(s), dimensions of existing structure 
and dimensions of proposed development.  

I hereby certify that the above information is correct and understand that issuance of a permit based on this 
application will not excuse me from complying with effective Ordinances and Resolutions of the City of Rockaway 
Beach and Statues of Oregon, despite any errors on the part of the issuing authority in this application. 

Property Owner Signature: ___ _____ Date: __________________ 

 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Fee $ __880.00___         Date Received: ____________        Receipt # _________________        By: _____________ 

Notes: _______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Notice Published: _________________________________       Public Hearing Date:_________________________        

Variance    ⃝ Granted          ⃝ Denied              Date of Order: ____________ Final Date to Appeal: _______t______ 

Planning approved by: _____________________________________________________ Date of Order: ________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See Attached

8/17/2023



City of Rockaway Beach, Oregon 

Rockaway Beach Planning Commission 

276 S Highway 101 

PO Box 5 

Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 

 

Grace Variance Application 

 

Dear Members of the Rockaway Beach Planning Commission,  

Description of Request: Request to change setbacks for fence and deck.  Install a new fence 

(6 feet tall) and extend the current deck size to the retaining wall for single-family home. 

We are writing to seek a fence and deck variance for our single-family home at 271 N Palisade 

St., Rockaway Beach.  

Our property is located on a busy street, and we have concerns about privacy, safety, and security. 

We have three dogs who need a secure area to run and play, as well as safety and privacy for 

ourselves, family members, and friends. 

The proposed fence and deck will be made of wood or composite material and will be painted to 

match the house. It will be 6 feet tall and will run along the back and sides of my property line.  

The fence or deck will not block any views or create any other problems for my neighbors or the 

community. 

1. That a strict or liberal interpretation and enforcement of the specified requirement 

would result in practical difficulty of unnecessary hardship and would be consistent 

with the objectives of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Due to the location of Ocean Loop and the pre-existing stone wall, which was built prior to us 

buying the property, we would be unable to place a fence or deck in a location which would provide 

suitable yard space for our family and pets. 

2. That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applicable 

to the property involved or to the intended use of the property which do not apply 

generally to other properties in the same zone. 

Having two well used roadways both in front of and behind our property does not allow for privacy 

and/or security due to increased vehicle and foot traffic along both N Palisade St and Ocean Loop. 

Because of the location of Ocean Loop, we are unable to place a fence as one who did not have 

a road running adjacent to two sides of a property would normally be allowed to do. Two current 

properties both located between N Palisade St and Ocean Loop have fences placed within similar 

proximity of proposed fence. 

3. That the granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, 

or welfare or materially injurious to properties or improvements in the near vicinity. 

There would be no detriment to public health, safety, or welfare due to the benign nature of 

construction of a simple fence and deck. In fact, it is our belief that due to the overall aesthetic 

look of a new fence and deck it would increase the overall beauty that our neighborhood already 

offers and would in fact bring our property to the aesthetic beauty of our neighbors. 



4. That the granting of a variance would support policies contained within the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

The variance does support the Comprehensive Plan. Due to the location of Ocean Loop which 

does not allow us the same opportunities to expand as others in the same situation and in fact 

creates increased hardship with decreased privacy and security. This is a growing neighborhood 

with increased traffic that places our friends, family, and pets in ever increasing danger. A fenced 

yard and deck would allow a safer environment for ourselves, our friends and family, and our 

dogs. 

 

I appreciate your time and consideration in this matter. 

Sincerely, 

  

Geoff & Debra Grace 

271 N. Palisade St. 

PO Box 

Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 

 



 



 











 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 1 of 8 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 
 
STAFF REPORT Case File #VAR-23-04 

Date Filed: August 18, 2023 
Hearing Date: September 21, 2023 

 
APPLICANTS: Geoff Grace and Debra Grace 
 
REQUEST: The applicants are requesting a variance for a reduction in the rear yard setback to expand the rear 
deck.  The property is located in the R3 zone which has a 5-foot rear yard setback.  The applicants are requesting 
the rear yard setback be reduced 0-feet. 
 

A. REPORT OF FACTS 
1. Property Location:  The property is located at 271 N Palisade Street in Rockaway Beach and is further 

identified on Tillamook County Assessor’s Map # 2N1032DB Lot #1702.   
2. Lot Size: approximately 5,149 square feet 
3. Zoning Designation: R3 (Low Density Residential Zoning). 
4. Surrounding Land Use: The subject property is surrounded by existing single-family dwellings on the 

North, West and South sides and vacant, forest land to the East side.   
5. Existing Structures: There is a one-story home on this property that was constructed in 2007. 
6. Utilities: The following utilities serve the subject property: 

a. Sewer: City of Rockaway Beach 
b. Water: City of Rockaway Beach 
c. Electricity: Tillamook P.U.D. 

7. Development Constraints:  None that will impact this request. 
 

B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST 
1. General Description of the Proposal: The applicants are requesting a variance for a reduction in the rear 

yard setback to expand their deck to the property line.  This property is in the R3 zone, which has a 5-
foot rear yard setback.  The applicants seek to reduce the rear yard setback 5-feet, for a 0-foot rear yard 
setback. 

2. Background: The subject property currently has a one-story home that is approximately 1,720 square-
feet.  This property is owner-occupied.   

3. Agency Comments: None. 
4. Ordinance Standards: The following ordinance standards apply to this request: 

 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance 
 
Article 3. Use Zones. 
 
Section 3.090. Lower Density Residential Zone (R-3). In an R-3 zone the following regulations shall apply: 
 

1. Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-3 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright: 



 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 2 of 8 
Staff Report 

a. Single family dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes, duplexes and 
multifamily homes. Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 

b. Home occupation (See Section 4.090) 
c. Churches and community meeting buildings. 
d. Manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during construction of a permitted use for 

which a building permit has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration. 
e. Manufactured dwelling placed in an approved manufactured dwelling park or subdivision. 
f. Recreational vehicle placed in an approved recreational vehicle park. 
g. Family day care center. 
h. Residential home and residential facility. 
i. Signs subject to Section 4.050. 

2. Conditional Uses Permitted. In an R-3 zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are 
permitted subject to the provisions of Article 6: 

a. Public utility structure, such as a substation. 
b. Government or municipal structure. 
c. Hospital, sanitarium, nursing home, or rest home. 
d. Limited commercial uses in Planned Unit Developments. 
e. Recreational vehicle parks, manufactured dwelling parks, and manufactured dwelling subdivisions. 
f. Parks and publicly owned recreation areas. 
g. Bed and breakfast. 

3. Standards. In an R-3 zone, the following standards shall apply: 
a. Minimum lot size in an R-3 zone shall be 5,000 square feet where sanitary sewer service is 

available, or will be made available, except as provided in (h) below; otherwise, minimum lot size 
shall be 7,000 square feet. 

b. Density limits for this area shall be 9 dwellings per acre, except as provided in (h) below. 
c. Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except that for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the 

minimum lot width shall be 35 feet. 
d. Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 

lot depth shall be 60 feet. 
e. Minimum front yard setback shall be 10 feet from the street right-of-way. 
f. Minimum setback on all other sides shall be 5 feet from the lot line. 
g. The maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet elsewhere, except east 

of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet. 
h. Where a proposed use is to be a Planned Unit Development involving residential structures, the 

Planning Commission may authorize an additional two dwelling units per acre if the development 
is properly designed. Aesthetic, geologic and environmental factors shall be taken into account. 
The Planning Commission may require an engineering, geologic, or structural analysis where it 
appears that steep slopes or wetlands are to be used for construction purposes rather than open 
space. The Planning Commission may attach any reasonable conditions it sees fit in the course of 
the Planned Unit Development process. 

i. The requirements of Section 4.041, Shorelands Development Criteria, shall be met where uses are 
to be located within 50 feet of a lake within the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary. 

j. A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 3 of 8 
Staff Report 

Article 8. Variances. 
 
Section 8.010. Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of a variance is to provide relief when a strict application of the zoning requirements would 
impose unusual practical difficulties or unnecessary physical hardships on the applicant. Practical 
difficulties and unnecessary hardships may result from the size, shape, or dimensions of a site, or the 
location of existing structures thereon; from geographic, topographic or other physical conditions on the 
site or in the immediate vicinity or from population densities, street location, or traffic conditions in the 
immediate vicinity. 

2. The power to grant variances does not extend to use regulations. In other words, no variance shall be granted 
to allow the use of property for a purpose not authorized within the zone in which the proposed use would 
be located. 

 
Section 8.020. Criteria 

1. Variances to a requirement of this chapter with respect to lot area and dimensions, setbacks, yard area, lot 
coverage, height of structures, vision clearance, fences and walls, and other quantitative requirements may 
be granted only if, on the basis of the application, investigation, and evidence submitted by the applicant, 
that all four expressly written findings are made: 

a. That a strict or literal interpretation and enforcement of the specified requirement would result in 
practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship and would be inconsistent with the objectives of the 
Comprehensive Plan; and 

b. That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applicable to the property 
involved or to the intended use of the property which do not apply generally to other properties in 
the same zone; and 

c. That the granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or 
materially injurious to properties or improvements in the near vicinity; and 

d. That the granting of the variance would support policies contained within the Comprehensive Plan. 
Variances in accordance with this subsection should not ordinarily be granted if the special circumstances 
upon which the applicant relies are a result of the actions of the applicant or owner. 

 
C. STAFF SUMMARY 

 
The applicant has addressed the criteria for a variance (see application). 

 
D. CONCLUSION 

 
If, after hearing the evidence at the hearing, the planning commission agrees that sufficient facts exist to grant 
the variance, they should direct staff to write findings based on the evidence to permit the variance. If they do 
not find that sufficient evidence exists to allow the variance, they should direct staff to write findings for denial 
of the variance.   
 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 4 of 8 
Staff Report 

APPLICATION LOCATION: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 5 of 8 
Staff Report 

SITE PLAN: 
 

 



 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 6 of 8 
Staff Report 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 7 of 8 
Staff Report 

PROPERTY IMAGES: 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

VAR #23-04  Page 8 of 8 
Staff Report 

 
 

 







[ 
,-'-------- - - -

Lot '6 Lot-°\ 

2.0' 

l 
~ 

I I 
' I 

z_s, 

I 

(OV...¼ 11oJ I 

~QW\_Q 

I 1.0 1 

CoJ 

LS' 























 
 

CU #23-01  Page 1 of 6 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 
 
STAFF REPORT Case File #CU-23-01 

Date Filed: June 28, 2023 
Hearing Date: September 21, 2023 

 
APPLICANTS: Kevin Pedigo and Caroline Pedigo 
 
REQUEST: The applicants are requesting a conditional use approval for construction of a new single family 
dwelling unit on unimproved real property on North Beacon Street, between North 3rd Ave. and North 4th Ave.  The 
property is located in the C-1 commercial zone, which allows single family dwellings as a conditional use. 
 

A. REPORT OF FACTS 
1. Property Location:  The property is identified on Tillamook County Assessor’s Map # 2N1032CB Lot 

#2301.   
2. Lot Size: approximately 2,922 square feet 
3. Zoning Designation: C-1 (Commercial Zoning). 
4. Surrounding Land Use: The subject property is surrounded by existing single-family dwellings on the 

North, East and South sides and the parking lot of Upper Crust Pizza to West side.   
5. Existing Structures: None. 
6. Development Constraints:  None that will impact this request. 

 
B. EVALUATION OF THE REQUEST 

1. General Description of the Proposal: The applicants have requested to construct a new single family 
dwelling unit on an existing vacant lot that is zoned commercial (C-1).  The proposed site plan 
illustrates a building footprint, which will allow for ample onsite parking.  

2. Background: Single family dwelling units are allowed upon conditional approval in the C-1 zone.  
There are examples of other single family dwelling units within a three block radius, which are also 
located in the C-1 zone.     

3. Agency Comments: None. 
4. Ordinance Standards: The following ordinance standards apply to this request: 

 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance 
 
Article 3. Use Zones. 
 
Section 3.050. Commercial Zone (C-1). 
 

1. Uses Permitted Outright: In a C-1 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted 
outright: 

a. Retail activities. 
b. Services such as banks, barber and beauty shops, small repair shops, printing shops, laundries. 
c. Eating and drinking establishments. 
d. Amusement activities. 



 
 

CU #23-01  Page 2 of 6 
Staff Report 

e. Business and professional offices. 
f.  Motels, hotels, and bed and breakfast. 
g. Churches or community meeting halls. 
h. Hospital, sanitarium, nursing home or rest home. 
i. Arts or craft studios. 
j. Public utility structure such as a substation. 
k. Parks and publicly owned recreation areas. 
l. Government or municipal structure. 
m. Home occupation (See Section 4.090). 
n. Private recreation uses such as tennis courts, and swimming pools or racquetball facility, when 

not in conjunction with another permitted use. 
o. Family day care center and day care center. 
p. Residential home. 
q. Residential facility. 
r. Signs in accordance with Section 4.050. 
s. Mobile Food Unit. 
t. A manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during the construction of a permitted use 

for which a building permit has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration. 
u. Structural shoreline stabilization. 
v. Residential Use, limited to the second story or above, and no more than 50% of the ground floor, 

on the condition that a commercial use be located on at least 50% of the area of the ground floor 
2. Conditional Uses Permitted. In a C-1 zone, the following conditional uses and accessory uses are 

permitted: 
a. Service stations, car lots, lumber yards, mobile home dealerships, public or private parking 

facilities, boat dealers, farm equipment dealers, or similar uses which require large land areas. 
These uses are intended to be outside of the immediate downtown area (between N. 4th to S. 3rd, 
the oceanfront and Beacon Street) and located on U.S. Highway 101. The Planning Commission 
or City Council shall consider this when issuing conditional use permits. 

b. Cabinet or wood working shops, plumbing, heating, electrical, paint or other contractor storage, 
retail or sale shops. 

c. Second hand sales with all merchandise enclosed within a structure. 
d. Wholesale warehouse or storage establishments. 
e. Tire retreading, welding or machine shops. 
f. Single family dwellings including modular housing and manufactured homes, duplexes and 

multiple family dwellings.  Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 
3. Standards. In a C-1 zone, the following standards shall apply: 

a. Building setbacks shall be governed by fire protection standards administered by the Building 
Official. 

b. Maximum building height shall be 45 feet, except that on the oceanfront from North Third Avenue 
to North Sixth Avenue the maximum building height shall be 20 feet. 

c. Where a 45 foot building height is permitted, the first story shall be a minimum of 12 feet in height 
as measured from grade and shall be designed to accommodate future potential commercial use. 

d. Multiple story buildings shall use architectural design features to differentiate the first story and 
the first story shall be designed to accommodate future potential commercial use. 

e. The height above grade of an overhang or awning shall be a minimum of 10 feet above the sidewalk 
grade and 12 feet above the street grade where no sidewalk exists.   



 
 

CU #23-01  Page 3 of 6 
Staff Report 

f. For commercial uses, permanent landscaping consisting of native vegetation is encouraged. 
Hardscape features such as benches, walkways, and outdoor seating areas shall be compliant with 
the American with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines.   

g. Where a commercial use abuts a residential zone, the commercial use shall provide a sight-
obscuring fence or hedge of at least 5 feet in height. Floodlights shall be shielded so as not to cast 
glare on an adjacent residential use. 

h. Storage of merchandise, waste disposal equipment, or similar material shall be screened from view. 
i. Automobile service stations shall have a minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet, with a minimum 

width of 100 feet. 
j. Commercial uses shall have permanent facilities, such as an office, which are connected to City 

services including water and sewer. 
 
Article 6. Conditional Uses. 
 
Section 6.010. Authorization to Grant or Deny Conditional Uses.  
 
Conditional uses listed in this ordinance may be permitted, enlarged, or otherwise altered upon authorization by the 
Planning Commission in accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in Section 6.010 through Section 
6.030. In the case of a use existing prior to the effective date of this ordinance and classified in this ordinance as a 
conditional use, any change in use or lot area or an alteration of structure shall conform with the requirements 
dealing with conditional uses. 
 
Section 6.020. Conditional Use Review Criteria.  
 
Before a conditional use is approved, findings will be made that the use will comply with the following: 

1. The proposed use is consistent with the policies of the Comprehensive Plan; 
2. The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed use are such that the development 

will have a minimum impact on surrounding properties. This standard is not applicable to multi-family 
dwellings, manufactured dwelling subdivisions and manufactured dwelling parks; 

3. The use will not generate excessive traffic when compared to the traffic generated by uses permitted outright 
and adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic generated; 

4. Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use; 
5. The site's physical characteristics in terms of topography and soils is appropriate for the intended use; and 
6. The site has adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The site layout has been designed to provide 

appropriate access points, on site drives, parking areas, loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks, buffers, 
utilities, or other facilities which are required by City ordinances or desired by the applicant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CU #23-01  Page 4 of 6 
Staff Report 

C. STAFF SUMMARY 
 

The applicant has addressed the criteria for a conditional use (see application). 
 

D. CONCLUSION 
 

If, after hearing the evidence at the hearing, the planning commission agrees that sufficient facts exist to grant 
the conditional use, they should direct staff to write findings based on the evidence to permit the conditional 
use. If they do not find that sufficient evidence exists to allow the conditional use, they should direct staff to 
write findings for denial of the conditional use.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CU #23-01  Page 5 of 6 
Staff Report 

APPLICATION LOCATION: 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 
 

CU #23-01  Page 6 of 6 
Staff Report 

 
 
SITE PLAN: 

 
 















 

 

Rockaway Beach Park 
 

220 S. Anchor St. | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Buell Recreation 

 

7327 Barnes Road #601| Portland, OR 97725 | 503-922-1650  

 

Proposal 907-172351-2 | 9/7/2023  



 

 

Rockaway Beach Park 

 
 

DESIGN SUMMARY 

 

 

Buell Recreation is very pleased to present this Proposal for consideration for the Rockaway 

Beach Park located in Rockaway Beach. BCI Burke Company, LLC has been providing 

recreational playground equipment for over 100 years and has developed the right mix of 

world-class capabilities to meet the initial and continuing needs of Rockaway Beach. We 

believe our proposal will meet or exceed your project’s requirements and will deliver the 

greatest value to you. 

 

The following is a summary of some of the key elements of our Proposal: 

 

• Project Name: Rockaway Beach Park 

• Project Number: 907-172351-2 

• User Capacity: 174 

• Age Groups: 5 to 12, 2 to 5, 2 to 12 

• Dimensions: 114' 4"x46' 8" 

• Designer Name: Tugce Raasch 

 

Buell Recreation has developed a custom playground configuration based on the 

requirements as they have been presented for the Rockaway Beach Park playground project. 

Our custom design will provide a safe and affordable playground environment that is 

aesthetically pleasing, full of fun for all users and uniquely satisfies your specific requirements. In 

addition, proposal # 907-172351-2 has been designed with a focus on safety, and is fully 

compliant with ASTM F1487 and CPSC playground safety standards. 

 

We invite you to review this proposal for the Rockaway Beach Park playground project and to 

contact us with any questions that you may have. 

 

Thank you in advance for giving us the opportunity to make this project a success. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposal 907-172351-2 | 9/7/2023  



 

 

 



 



 



 



 



 

  



 

 

 

 

 



 



 



 



 

  



 

 



 



 



 



 



 

  



 

 



 



 



 



 



 

  



 

 

Rockaway Beach Park 
 

Proposal 907-172351-2 | 9/7/2023 | 2023 Pricing 
 

 

 

The play components identified in this proposal are IPEMA certified. The use 

and layout of these components conform to the requirements of ASTMF1487.  

To verify product certification, visit www.ipema.org. 

 

The space requirements shown in this proposal are to ASTM standards. 

Requirements for other standards may be different. 

 

Component No. Description Qty User Cap Ext. User Cap Weight Ext. Weight 

 

 

5-12 Structure 
 

Nucleus 

072-0500-120C 5" OD X 120" CAPPED POST 4 0 0 63 252 

072-0500-140C 5" OD X 140" CAPPED POST 1 0 0 74 74 

072-0500-148C 5" OD X 148" CAPPED POST 5 0 0 78 390 

072-0500-160C 5" OD X 160" CAPPED POST 1 0 0 84 84 

072-0500-164C 5" OD X 164" CAPPED POST 2 0 0 86 172 

072-0500-180C 5" OD X 180" CAPPED POST 1 0 0 94 94 

072-0500-188C 5" OD X 188" CAPPED POST 1 0 0 99 99 

072-0500-196C 5" OD X 196" CAPPED POST 6 0 0 103 618 

072-0504-10B 5" OD X 10" STUBBY POST 1 0 0 6 6 

270-0009 8" CLOSURE PLATE, ELLIPSE 1 0 0 8 8 

270-0120 EVOLUTION UNITARY ENCLOSURE 2 0 0 34 68 

270-0122 EVOLUTION OFFSET ENCLOSURE 3 0 0 34 102 

270-0130 SQUARE PLATFORM 6 6 36 106 636 

270-0132 HALF HEXAGON PLATFORM 1 6 6 144 144 

270-0292 EVOLUTION CENTER MOUNT ENCLOSURE 2 0 0 40 80 

270-0301 SPLIT SQUARE PLATFORMCLOSURE ... 2 4 8 108 216 

370-0041 EVOLUTION 40" TRANSITION STAI... 2 8 16 301 602 

370-0141 SHIP BOW CLIMBER 72" 1 12 12 371 371 

370-0204 LINX LEVITATE CLIMBER 1 6 6 223 223 

370-0224 VICTORY CLIMBER 1 1 1 328 328 

370-0234 FORMIS LADDER 72 1 6 6 115 115 

370-0247 END RUNGS 2 1 2 10 20 

370-1703 NUCLEUS CORE CROSS SUPPORT 2 0 0 32 64 

370-1709 NUCLEUS CORE TRANSFER BELT 1 2 2 60 60 

470-0075 CRESCENT PLATFORM 1 1 1 52 52 

470-0741 VIPER R 64-72 W/O HOOD 1 2 2 152 152 

470-0788 COBRA SLIDE FUSION "S" RIGHT ... 1 2 2 324 324 

470-0805 SLIDE HOOD, HIGH SIDE WALL 1 0 0 32 32 

570-0100 EVOLUTION BARRIER 3 0 0 52 156 

570-0742 SHIP BOARD PANEL 17", BELOW P... 3 0 0 22 66 

570-1863 RAIN WHEEL PANEL 1 2 2 59 59 

570-2706 CHIMES CRESCENT PANEL, LEFT 1 1 1 17 17 

570-2713 HIDE THE NUMBERS PANEL 1 2 2 69 69 

570-2737 PINBALL PANEL 1 1 1 53 53 

600-0104 NPPS SUPERVISION SAFETY KIT 1 0 0 3 3 

660-0103 MAINTENANCE KIT, STRUCTURE 1 0 0 7 7 

660-0104 INSTALLATION KIT, STRUCTURE 1 0 0 5 5 

670-0408 POST MOUNTED SHIP'S WHEEL ASS... 1 1 1 7 7 
 

http://www.ipema.org/


 

 

5-12 Structure 
 

Intensity 

370-1684 ROUND-A-BOUT, NUCLEUS 1 12 12 115 115 
 

 

5-12 Structure 
 

Burke Basics 

560-0066 FS APPROACH CLIMBER, 3 POD 1 3 3 60 60 

560-0068 FS APPROACH CLIMBER, 5 POD 1 5 5 84 84 
 

 

 

Freestanding 
 

Burke Basics 

560-0051 INCLUSIVE ORBIT 1 6 6 667 667 

560-2625 MOVMNT INCLUSIVE, FREESTANDING 1 2 2 328 328 

580-0172 6' PVC TRADITIONAL BENCH W/BA... 2 0 0 119 238 

580-0176 6' PVC TRADITIONAL  PICNIC TA... 4 0 0 261 1044 

580-0190 6' PVC TRADITIONAL BENCH W/BA... 2 0 0 115 230 

660-0101 INSTALL KIT, BURKE BASICS - P... 1 0 0 2 2 
 

 

 

PlayEnsemble 
 

Nucleus 

072-0500-108C 5" OD X 108" CAPPED POST 1 0 0 57 57 

072-0500-128C 5" OD X 128" CAPPED POST 1 0 0 67 67 

072-0500-72C 5" OD X 72" CAPPED POST 2 0 0 38 76 

570-0410 PLAYENSEMBLE TITAN CHIMES 1 2 2 121 121 

570-0411 PLAYENSEMBLE SUPINE CHIMES HUE 1 2 2 93 93 

570-0412 PLAYENSEMBLE TERRA METALLOPHONE 1 2 2 93 93 

570-2732 PLAYENSEMBLE BABEL DRUM 1 1 1 14 14 
 

 

PlayEnsemble 
 

Burke Basics 

560-0055 PLAYENSEMBLE CIRQUE DRUM V 1 2 2 48 48 

560-0056 PLAYENSEMBLE CIRQUE DRUM IV 1 1 1 32 32 

560-0057 PLAYENSEMBLE CIRQUE DRUM III 1 1 1 25 25 

560-0058 PLAYENSEMBLE CIRQUE DRUM II 1 1 1 19 19 

560-0059 PLAYENSEMBLE CIRQUE DRUM I 1 1 1 17 17 
 

 

 

2-5 Structure 
 

Nucleus 

072-0500-160C 5" OD X 160" CAPPED POST 4 0 0 84 336 

072-0500-176C 5" OD X 176" CAPPED POST 2 0 0 92 184 

270-0009 8" CLOSURE PLATE, ELLIPSE 2 0 0 8 16 

270-0120 EVOLUTION UNITARY ENCLOSURE 2 0 0 34 68 

270-0136 SPLIT SQUARE PLATFORM 1 4 4 103 103 

270-0301 SPLIT SQUARE PLATFORMCLOSURE ... 1 4 4 108 108 

370-0089 LEAF CLIMBER 40" - 48" 1 4 4 41 41 

370-0231 FORMIS LADDER 48 1 3 3 71 71 



 

470-0075 CRESCENT PLATFORM 1 1 1 52 52 

470-0755 LUGE SLIDE, 48"-56" 1 4 4 198 198 

470-0802 MONACO SLIDE, 32"-40" 1 2 2 70.6 70.6 

470-0804 SLIDE HOOD, LOW SIDE WALL 1 0 0 32 32 

470-0808 EVOLUTION ROOF BOTTOM EDGE 2 0 0 13 26 

470-0810 SQUARE ROOF TOP EDGE, TWO SIDES 1 0 0 14 14 

470-0867 EVOLUTION SQUARE ROOF 2 0 0 76 152 

570-2664 BEE PANEL 1 2 2 45 45 
 

 

2-5 Structure 
 

Intensity 

570-2703 COLLISION RING PANEL 1 1 1 48 48 
 

 

2-5 Structure 
 

Burke Basics 

580-1364 LIL NOVO BEAN STEP 1 1 1 28 28 
 

 

 

ShadePlay Max 
 

ShadePlay Max 

560-2644 20' X 25' X 8' SHADEPLAY MAX ... 1 0 0 757 757 
 

 

    

 



 

 

Rockaway Beach Park 
 

Proposal 907-172351-2 | 9/7/2023 | 2023 Pricing 
 

 

COLOR SELECTION LIST | Default Color Option 
 

GROUP 1 (Freestanding) 

 Post: Green 

 Panel: Tan-Green-Tan 

 Plastic: Blue 

 Acc: Aqua 

 PSteel: Brown 
 

 

GROUP 2 (5-12 Structure) 

 Deck: Brown 

 Post: Green 

 Flat: Tan 

 Acc: Aqua 

 Panel: Tan-Green-Tan 

 Plastic: Blue 
 

 

GROUP 3 (PlayEnsemble) 

 Flat: Tan 

 Acc: Aqua 

 Post: Green 

 Panel: Tan-Green-Tan 
 

 

GROUP 4 (2-5 Structure) 

 Deck: Brown 

 Post: Green 

 Flat: Tan 

 Acc: Aqua 

 Plastic: Blue 

 Panel: Tan-Green-Tan 
 

 

GROUP 5 (ShadePlay Max) 

 Post: Green 

 Canopy: Blue 
 

 



 

 

  



 

 

 

 



Fax: 866-597-0033 | 1-800-266-1250 | 1-800-266-1250

Buell Recreation LLC
7327 SW Barnes Rd #601

Portland, OR  97225

+1 5039221650

admin@buellrecreation.com

Quote

ADDRESS

Rockaway Beach City

276 S Hwy 101

Rockaway Beach, OR  97136

SHIP TO

Rockaway Beach Park

220 S Anchor Street

Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

QUOTE # DATE EXPIRATION DATE

R23-0161D 09/14/2023 10/14/2023

SALES REP PROJECT
Kati Option C- Revised

ACTIVITY QTY RATE AMOUNT

Play Structure
BCI Burke Structure per proposal #907-172351-2

1 180,209.00 180,209.00

Sourcewell Discount
Sourcewell Contract Discount per Contract #010521-BUR

1 -18,020.90 -18,020.90

Freight
Shipping -does not include off loading

Forklift generally required for offloading

1 9,275.00 9,275.00

Complete Installation
Complete Installation to include:

1. All labor necessary to unload the structure on-site at the time of 

installation.

2. All labor and concrete necessary for the installation of play 

equipment 907-172351-2

3. 2-5 Structure

4. 5-12 Structure

5. Inclusive Orbit

6. 4 Benches (In-Ground)

7. Movement (Surface Mounted)

8. 4 Picnic Tables (Portable)

9. Shade Structure (In-ground through Concrete)

10. Clean up and Safety Check

11. Prevailing Wages

12. All necessary travel expenses

Project to be scheduled in 2024

Exclusions:

-Permit for shade Structure if needed

-Site Prep/Demo

-Surfacing/Sub-base

-Extra Trip Charges

-Digging thru safety surfacing, drain rock or underground 

formalities

-Disposal of soil from footing holes (figured to be disposed of on 

site)

1 101,350.00 101,350.00



Fax: 866-597-0033 | 1-800-266-1250 | 1-800-266-1250

ACTIVITY QTY RATE AMOUNT

-Security fencing

-Portable restrooms

-Permits and Engineered Drawings if required.

Any changes, additions, or delays to this proposal will affect 

pricing.  Changes to the proposed scope not agreed to here within 

or separately in writing may result in additional charges (change 

order).  Work cannot commence until change order(s) are fully 

executed.

Buell Billing
Please make payment to Buell Recreation and email to 

rachel@buellrecreation.com

1 0.00 0.00

Sourcewell Contract
Sourcewell Publicly Solicited Contract #: 010521-BUR

Rockaway Beach ID# 129063

https://www.sourcewell-mn.gov/

1 0.00 0.00

Lead Time
Lead Time is approx. 11-12 weeks from receipt of your completed 

order and payment (if required).  Lead times can fluctuate so 

please inquire upon time of ordering.

We are making every effort to increase our capacity and improve 

our lead times.

1 0.00 0.00

PLACING AN ORDER:   Upon ordering please review and return this signed quote 

with a copy of your purchase order and tax exempt certificate, if applicable.   Please 

mark any changes on the quote such as billing/shipping address, drivers contact and 

color selection. IF INSTALLATION IS INCLUDED:  This quote does not include 

Prevailing Wages, Davis Bacon Wages or Performance Bonds unless noted. Owner is 

responsible for site preparation unless otherwise noted.

TOTAL $272,813.10

Accepted By Accepted Date



 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
SUBMITTED ON 
ANCHOR STREET 

PLAYGROUND OPTIONS 



1

City Planner

From: Angie Yost < >
Sent: Tuesday, August 29, 2023 6:15 PM
To: City Planner
Subject: Anchor Playground 

We just purchased a home in Rockaway, and we have a 4 year old.  I appreciate the idea of a playground.  Those were all 
great designs. I do have a suggestion.  We use to live in Lincoln county and I know even in Lincoln city/Newport I wish 
there was a covered play area.  With so much rain the winter months it would be nice to see if there was an option for 
outdoor play that was at least partially covered. Maybe a covered ball hoop or something?  
 
Thanks 
Angie Yost 
 
Sent from my iPhone 



1

City Planner

From: Daniel Howlett < >
Sent: Wednesday, August 30, 2023 2:43 PM
To: City Planner
Cc: Charles McNeilly; Mary McGinnis; Kristine Hayes
Subject: Anchor Street park

Hi Mary, 
 
I saw on the city website the 3 options of playgrounds, and I'm not that excited about any of them. With 3 existing 
playgrounds in town, at the Wayside, Phyllis Baker Park, and a small one at the district office, I don't know why the city 
has settled on an option that is a duplication of what we already have. There has to be another creative option that will 
add more value to the town. What about a small skate park? Or a covered space with tables and chairs? Or a covered 
climbing wall?  
 
I'm also really confused why the city is not planning to incorporate the 1 acre city owned parcel directly behind Anchor 
Street. This seems like a great opportunity to create a dog park, birding space, botanical garden, or something like that. I 
understand that this is a wetland area and has to be passive use. Current plans, or no plan at all, seem a bit half baked to 
me. There has been no public outreach on this project so far. Maybe an online survey with more options could be 
helpful. Thanks for all of your work on this, 
 
Cheers, 
 
Daniel Howlett 
 
 
 
 



1

City Planner

From: Debbie and Randy < >
Sent: Tuesday, August 29, 2023 10:37 AM
To: City Planner
Subject: Mary Johnson re: Anchor Street Playground

I am wondering why Rockaway is even considering another playground? Why not improve the two we already have? 
While I do agree that we need something for the younger folks in this town, I don't believe ANOTHER playground is the 
answer.  
I think the city needs the overflow parking. On busy holidays and weekends, people have to park along all the side 
streets.  
My two cents. 
Debbie Tompkins 


	PC Meeting Agenda 2023-09-21
	PC Minutes DRAFT 2023-08-17
	Variance Application #23-03 - 262 2 Dolphin_Redacted
	Variance Application #23-03 - 262 2 Dolphin.pdf
	Site Plan.pdf

	Staff Report Variance 23-03 - 262 S Dolphin
	Variance Application #23-04 - 271 N Palisade_Redacted
	Variance #23-04 - 271 N Palisade.pdf
	Grace Variance Letter.pdf
	House and Fence Diagram.pdf
	New Deck Diagram.pdf
	House Picture back side.pdf
	Alan's fence.pdf
	Alan's front fence.pdf
	House with fence.pdf

	Staff Report Variance 23-04 - 271 N Palisade
	Conditional Application #23-01_Redacted
	SKM_C450i23091409100.pdf
	SKM_C450i23091409101.pdf
	SKM_C450i23091409102.pdf

	Staff Report Conditional Use 23-01
	Public Comment - Peter Wilson
	Public Comment on Anchor St Playground
	Public Comment Cover Sheet
	Angie Yost_Redacted
	Daniel Howlett_redacted
	Debbie Tompkins_redacted

	Anchor_Street_Playground_Proposal.pdf
	1.pdf
	5.pdf
	2.pdf
	3.pdf
	6.pdf
	907-172351-2_RockawayBeachPark.pdf
	R23-0161D Rockaway- Option C- Revised.pdf


